Why Saint Lucia?
Strategic location
Emerging jurisdiction for regional and international
Headquarter Operations
Citizenship by Investment Programme
Free and stable economic and political climate
Reliable infrastructure and advanced technology
Strong history of attracting and protecting investments
British Virgin Islands

Regional and international market access for goods and services
Free repatriation of profits
Free access to OECS labour pool of 300,000

Guadeloupe

Protection of intellectual property and patents

Dominica

Caribbean and World’s Leading Honeymoon Destination

Martinique

Location of the Future (Site Selection Magazine July 2015)

Saint Lucia

Caribbean Country of the Future and Island Economies of the
Future (fDi Magazine July 2015 and July 2017)

Barbados
St. Vincent
& the Grenadines

Aggressive growth strategy focused on major infrastructural projects

Grenada

Trinidad & Tobago
Venezuela
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VISION
“In 2020 ISL will be a purpose-driven, vision-focused and
professional Investment Promotion Agency, having enabled US
$1.5 billion in direct investment, resulting in 8,000 new jobs,
over the past 5 years as well as significant economic linkages
and substantial investment in health and education.”

MISSION
“To advance Saint Lucia’s socio-economic development
by promoting, stimulating and facilitating direct investment
while making a reasonable return on assets.”

CORE VALUES
& ETHICS STANDARDS
As such, its philosophical position
hinges on the following core values:
• Accountability
• Adaptability
• Customer Centricity
• Integrity
• Professionalism
• Teamwork
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ISL aims to adopt a proactive,
problem-solving management style,
to inclucate with the organisation a
commitment to quality, efficiency and
effective public relations.

Chairman’s Foreword
2017 was a year of continuous transformation for Invest
Saint Lucia. The team at ISL maintained a proactive,
problem-solving approach to managing the affairs of this
investment promotion agency.
ISL’s focus has always been the advancement of Saint
Lucia’s socio-economic development. This continues to
be accomplished through our promotion and facilitation
efforts, which were stepped up significantly during the 2017
period. ISL’s investment promotion team participated in
several overseas events where they presented the island’s
investment prospects to potential investors. This resulted
in increased enquiries, and what we hope will inevitably
become viable investments.
Since assuming the role as Chairman of the Board of
Directors, I have focused much of my attention on
understanding the dynamics of this organisation, its culture,
and what will help us to continue meeting and surpassing
the expectations of those investors and land owners whose
investments we facilitate.
During the year, my fellow Board Members and I participated
in a tour of some of the sites earmarked for investment,
and met with the respective developers to experience, firsthand, some of the issues affecting them. I can report with
a great degree of certainty that some of these concerns
were dealt with and, as a consequence, these investments
remain on track.
Rest assured that this was not done in isolation, but together
with the various ministries and agencies that are essential to
the investment facilitation process. This young, dynamic ISL
team continues to maintain a mutually beneficial relationship
with all external stakeholders as we work towards a ‘whole
of government’ approach to enabling direct investment
that will generate sustainable employment opportunities.
Thus, we are hopeful that together we can address
concerns in relation to improving our business climate and
make progress with implementation of recommendations
to improve the island’s ease of doing business.
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In this global environment, Saint Lucia’s competition is no
longer limited to its Caribbean neighbours. In recent years,
UNCTAD reported moderate FDI flows across the world. No
region remained untouched in falling FDI trends. For Latin
America and the Caribbean, projections were muted as
there remained uncertainties in macro-economic policy.
Saint Lucia must therefore adopt a more vigorous approach
in attracting investment even while concerns in the UK, one
of our more traditional FDI partners, over Brexit, persist.
Saint Lucia must remain top of mind and ISL will therefore
be making use of innovative marketing initiatives to further
catalyze the investment potential of the island.
As it relates to asset management, we facilitated the
sale of factory shells to clients in the manufacturing and
construction business. Moreover, we undertook remedial
works at some of our shells as well as Duty-Free Pointe
Seraphine (DFPS). DFPS received a welcomed facelift
and the cart vendors were relocated in an effort to ease
congestion, especially on days the cruise ships are in port.
Additionally, ISL intends to augment the investment
opportunities on showcase by coming directly to the local
market, requesting investment products from Saint Lucians,
thereby improving our relationship with the private sector.
In closing, let me add that the team remained focused
and resolute in the advancement of our mandate and the
execution of duties, towards delivering quality sustainable
investments and employment opportunities. We are excited
about 2018 and anticipate that we will make progress on a
number of projects. We look forward to continuing our role
as a conduit for economic development through investment
facilitation.

MR. PINKLEY FRANCIS
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF INVEST SAINT LUCIA
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Board of Directors
Pinkley Francis
Mr. Pinkley Francis is the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Invest Saint Lucia. Mr. Francis is
the owner and CEO of SIXT Car Rental St. Lucia, Europe’s fastest growing rental car agency, as well
as Innovative Business Solutions St. Lucia Inc., a Technology integrator and business solutions
enterprise. He is also a Director at Island Marine Supplies, the sole distributor for Mercury Marine
in Saint Lucia. Prior to becoming self-employed, he spent over ﬁfteen (15) years in the private
sector, holding several senior managerial positions with Cable & Wireless. For a period of two
years, Mr. Francis was the country manager for Antilles Crossing and TeleStlucia, a wholesale
internet service provider.
He holds an MSC in Information Systems Management from the University of Sheﬃeld and
specializes in New Business Development; Telecommunications; Negotiations; Strategic Planning;
Business Development; Project Management; and Change Management.

Jodi Boodhoo
Mr. Jodi Boodhoo sits as the Deputy Chairman on the Board of Invest Saint Lucia, a post which he
has previously held.
Jodi Boodhoo is a co-founder and Director of Business Development at AVANCE, a boutique deal
structuring and project ﬁnance consultancy. Mr. Boodhoo is a former member of the Saint Lucia
Tourist Board and has assisted with the development of the island's export development strategy.
He holds a BA in Political science, an LLB and LLM. Mr. Boodhoo keeps active in national service
and charitable drives, and is passionate about development issues.

Titus Preville
Mr. Leo Titus Preville is a career civil servant of over thirty-three (33) years, who was ﬁrst
appointed as a Permanent Secretary in the Government of Saint Lucia in 2007. He currently serves
as the Permanent Secretary in the Department of Commerce, International Trade, Investment,
Enterprise Development and Consumer Aﬀairs, a position which he has also held with the
Department of Labour as well as in the Department of Tourism and Civil Aviation.
Prior to his appointments Mr. Preville served in the Department of Commerce ﬁrst as Director of
Commerce and Industry from 2002 and then as Deputy Permanent Secretary in 2005.
His career in the public service began in 1984 as an Information Oﬃcer at the Government
Information Service. By 1990 he was appointed Chief Information Oﬃcer and in that time had
attained a Post Graduate Diploma in Mass Communication from the Caribbean Institute of Mass
Communication at the Mona Campus of the UWI and a degree in Economics and Management
from the UWI. He completed his Masters in Economics in 1995 and served as an Economist in the
Ministry of Planning until December of 1996 when he was seconded for ﬁve years to the Saint
Lucia Air and Sea Ports Authority as the Director of Economics and Research.

Geoffrey Du Boulay
Geoﬀrey Du Boulay is a partner with Floissac Fleming & Associates.
He has spent his entire 12-year professional career with the ﬁrm working his way up from debt
recovery and civil litigation. Along the way he amassed tremendous experience in all aspects of
civil litigation and dispute resolution.
Mr. Du Boulay currently heads the ﬁrm's civil litigation practice but has diverse and wide-ranging
experience in corporate and commercial matters advising amongst others both lenders and
borrowers in complex cross-border ﬁnancing transactions, receivers and liquidators in insolvency
matters, and companies in joint venture agreements, mergers and acquisitions.
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Peter Devaux
Peter Devaux is a self-employed businessman, with interests in business, land and property
development, whose career spans over three decades.
He has worked in various capacities including General Manager of Bryden and Partners Ltd. and
Executive Director of Minvielle and Chastanet (M&C) Ltd.
Mr. Devaux is the holder of a Bachelor of Commerce (Hons) Degree from the University of Windsor,
Ontario, Canada and currently serves as the Honorary Consul for the Kingdom of the Netherlands,
a position he has held since 1988.

Paula Valerie James
Mrs. Paula Valerie James is the Executive Director of the Saint Lucia Manufacturers Association.
She brings over thirty years of banking experience to ISL’s Board having worked in the sector both
locally and regionally. She served as a member of the Public Service Commission for ﬁve years;
Chairman of the Tax Appeal Commission for six years and as Coordinator of the National Volunteer
Programme during the staging of Cricket World Cup 2007.

-

She is a recipient of the Saint Lucia Les Piton Medal and has also been bestowed with the Melvin
Jones Fellowship – the highest award attainable from the Lions Clubs international for Dedicated
Humanitarian Service.
Mrs. James is dedicated and passionate about community service and youth development.

Modestus Louis
Modestus Louis brings a wealth of knowledge in immigration/border control and security to Invest
Saint Lucia’s Board of Directors, having spent the last twenty years as a law enforcement oﬃcer.
This is coupled with a decade’s worth of practice as a security specialist with a leading business
organization in Saint Lucia. Additionally, Mr. Louis has worked in public relations and boasts of a
three-year stint as a radio talk-show host and customer service trainer.

-

However, all of this comes in a distant second to his burning desire to see Saint Lucia succeed and
live up to its true potential. He believes strongly that a nation which can produce two Nobel
Laureates as well as movers and shakers on the international scene - from the meagre resources of
‘sea water and sand’ - is a nation with the ability to be a world-class leader. The desire to see this
fulﬁlled is his driving force.

Ronald James
Mr. Ronald James has spent the last two decades with the National Farmers and General Workers
Co-operative Credit Union. His twenty-year career in ﬁnance, recently earned him the post of
General Manager of the Credit Union, which has branches in Castries, Vieux-Fort and Bois d’Orange.
Mr. James’ area of expertise is not limited to ﬁnancial management. Throughout his career he has
undertaken a number of human resource functions as well as risk management and marketing.

-

He holds a Professional Certiﬁcate in Strategic Leadership in Credit Union Management, from the
Florida International University; a Certiﬁcate in Cooperative Studies and a Diploma in Management
from the University of the West Indies. He is currently pursuing his MBA.
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KEY ACHIEVEMENTS
In 2017, as with previous years, Invest Saint Lucia (ISL) continued
to actively and purposefully pursue investments that match
Saint Lucia’s value proposition in a deliberate effort to attract
high quality, direct investment aimed at enhancing the overall
welfare of Saint Lucians through sustainable job creation and
competitiveness.

•

Digicel launched a new Hub office in Saint Lucia as part of its
global transformation programme. ISL sees this as the first
of many companies that will choose Saint Lucia to establish
Headquarter Operations due to favourable amendments to
the International Business Companies Act.

•

Through its inventory of factory shells, ISL enabled the
growth and expansion of three manufacturers, thereby
meeting the growing demand for their products:

Presented below, is a list of our recorded successes in the area
of investment promotion and business facilitation. We have also
outlined the achievements of the various support departments
and subsidiaries such as DutyFree Pointe Seraphine, based on
their respective work programmes.
•

•

•

•

The refurbishment of the 30,000-sq. ft. factory shell HF1
located in the Hewanorra Airport Freezone, was completed
in order to accommodate the operations of Ojo Labs, the
Caribbean’s first Artificial Intelligence (AI) contact center.
The facility officially opened its doors in November 2017,
employing close to 40 agents initially, but with an ultimate
employment target of approximately 300 local agents within
the next three (3) years.
The Harbor Club officially opened its doors in December
2017. The hotel features 115 rooms with a variety of
facilities including a spa, swimming pool, fitness centre,
two restaurants, bakery, and 4,000 square feet of event and
meeting space.
The formal opening of the Royalton Saint Lucia Resort and
Spa took place in February 2017. The Resort features 453
rooms, eight restaurants, six bars, a world class spa, onsite
splash park, conference space. One of the highlights of the
Royalton is an exclusive 94-suite, adults-only hotel called
“Hideaway”. The Resort was developed after the acquisition
of the Smugglers Cove Resort & Spa by Blue Diamond
Resorts. Total estimated employment at the time of its
launch, stood at 800.
In the first quarter of 2017, the Hibiscus Trolley Train Tour
commenced operations from Duty Free Pointe Seraphine.
The tour of the Castries city circuit is mainly targeted at
Cruise Ship visitors and lasts approximately ninety (90)
minutes.
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•

Alwin Investment Inc., a Saint Lucian pasta manufacturer,
was assisted with its expansion efforts through the sale
of a 7,000 square feet factory shell in Union;

•

TA’s Distribution & Trading, a locally owned business, was
supported through the renovation and lease of a 10,000
square feet factory shell in the Vieux Fort Industrial
Estate. This larger facility enables TA’s Distribution to
consolidate its services and increase its distribution of
“Mags” refined coconut oil using locally produced copra;

•

Brice & Co.’s acquisition of a 9,800 square feet factory
shell located in the Vieux Fort Industrial Freezone,
supports the expansion plans of this local company as
it continues to contribute to the construction industry in
Saint Lucia;

•

DFPS facilitated the opening of the “Made in Saint Lucia” gift
shop in July of 2017. The shop offers a variety of original
paintings, illustrations, prints, jewelry, pottery, and carvings
made from indigenous woods all created by local artisans.
Over fifteen (15) local artists have the privilege of selling
their pieces at Made in Saint Lucia;

•

DFPS also welcomed the “Noble Tree Coffee Shop” which
launched in December 2017, just in time for the re-opening
of Berth #1. Noble Tree offers 100% locally grown coffee and
has an extensive menu of local dishes;

Castries Waterfront

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS CONTINUED...
In 2017, ISL maintained an effective expenditure control
mechanism which resulted in reduced spending in most
categories, while simultaneously recording increases in
revenue, mostly from factory shell leases.
Besides the aforementioned, ISL also recorded successes in
areas that are not directly related to investment facilitation:
Consensus was reached regarding the suggested amendments
to the Invest Saint Lucia Act. These changes have better
equipped ISL to perform its core function of investment
facilitation and have succeeded in strengthening the
Governance of ISL;

The appointment of the Permanent Secretary in
the Department of Commerce, International Trade,
Investment, Enterprise Development and Consumer
Affairs to the Board of Invest Saint Lucia, provided a
more direct interface between the Agency and its parent
Ministry, as well as greater collaboration in shaping the
policies and direction of ISL;

ISL entered into formal lease agreements with occupiers
of land owned by the Agency. This gave the occupiers a
sense of empowerment as they now have title to the
land;
A tailored Human Resources Information System (HRIS)
was successfully installed, and employee information
updated. While the setup of the leave management
system took longer than planned, overall, employees
embraced the change and worked together for its
effective use;
Employee morale was also improved with the
implementation of a wellness programme which
included health tests, walks and other health-related
initiatives for staff. As part of the recognition programme,
employees were rewarded for their participation;
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The 2017 training plan was successfully executed, with
over 90% of the training needs being fulfilled in various
areas such as Corporate Governance, Customer Service,
Supervisory Skills and Public Speaking;
Continued regional collaboration on investment
promotion and capacity building: World Association
of Investment Promotion Agencies (WIAPA) sponsored
training in Italy, as well as a study tour to Costa Rica’s
Investment Promotion Agency through the Caribbean
Association of Investment Promotion Agencies (CAIPA).
The annual staff dinner and awards ceremony was held
in December with various employees being recognized
for work achievements - ISL’s Core Values and fun
awards included;
A new Legal Counsel was appointed in the name of
Samantha Charles. She assumed the role after the
departure of Seryozha Cenac;
As part of its advertising campaign to increase the
footfall to the Mall, DFPS embarked on a successful
advertising campaign to the local and regional markets.
Residents, as well as stayover visitors were targeted
with a jingle, which was geared towards strengthening
the DFPS brand. The decision to advertise in the
French market was taken in an effort to broaden DFPS’
customer base and help bolster the brand’s reputation.
Thus, Martinique Bonjour was selected due to its wide
tourist readership;
The Vendors Market at DFPS was set up due to the
overcrowding of cart operators in the courtyard of
Phase 1. As a result, all carts were refurbished and a
structure/covering was built at the entrance of the
Complex. The official handover was done on November
1st, 2017. From all indications, operators are pleased
with the new accommodations as the new location is
not only aesthetically pleasing, but also allows them
ample space for their vending needs;

ISL Board and staff tour a proposed investment site.

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS CONTINUED...
Upgrades were undertaken to the Main Terminal and the
DFPS Management Office; the washrooms were completely
overhauled and the entire Complex repainted;
A designated operating space was created for ferry
services which has resulted in a more efficient flow
of passengers;
The construction of a by-pass road had been
commissioned with the intent of alleviating the
traffic congestion caused by the converging of
several tour buses, taxis, and other service vehicles
on property during peak hours. While the first
phase of the project has been completed, the
issue of congestion persists since the bypass is not
yet fully functional. In the interim, a revised traffic
management plan has been instituted to ensure a
more efficient flow of traffic;
All necessary technical drawings were prepared and
the requisite approvals from regulatory agencies
received, for the construction of a 25-lot residential
development in Bois Jolie, Dennery;
The southern office of Invest Saint Lucia was
relocated to more spacious and aesthetically
pleasing accommodation within the Gablewoods
South complex. The new office, whilst providing
more space for staff, is now better equipped to
serve clients in a more comfortable environment;
ISL constructed a 1200 square feet two-bedroom
house in Aupicon, Vieux Fort to accommodate the
relocation of a family from Beausejour, Vieux Fort,
the site earmarked for the Pearl of the Caribbean
project;
The construction of a V-drain at the residential
development in Cedar Heights, Vieux Fort has
helped to improve the drainage system in that area;
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General maintenance, including flood mitigation works
was undertaken at all Industrial Estates managed by Invest
Saint Lucia in an effort to ensure that tenants would not be
disrupted during the Hurricane season.
The lighting system at the main office of Invest Saint Lucia,
situated in the Heraldine Rock Building, was converted
to LED lighting to assist with efforts aimed at conserving
energy.
Guided by its Corporate Outreach Programme, and in
an effort to improve public relations, ISL made financial
contributions towards the following initiatives:
Contributions to Feed the Poor Ministries, the Lucian
Aid Foundation and the Salvation Army - towards their
respective annual Christmas food drive;
An annual contribution to the National Community
Foundation as part of its education fund;
Corporate sponsorship of:
•

The ‘Young Entrepreneur of the Year Award’
through the St. Lucia Chamber of Commerce
Industry and Agriculture’s Annual Business
Awards;

•

Specialty Caribbean Expo 2017;

•

The St. Lucia Sickle Cell Association;

•

The Dominica post-hurricane relief fund;

•

The Ministry of Commerce’s Business Month
– including the St. Lucia Youth Business Trust
(SLYBT) for Global Entrepreneurship Week
(GEW); the National Youth Council; the
Commonwealth Youth Peace Ambassadors
Network (CYPAN);

Antillia Brewing Company at Duty-Free Pointe Seraphine

CHALLENGES
•

•

•

Obtaining requisite information and documentation in a
timely manner from other public agencies and departments,
remains a challenge for ISL. In addition, ISL continues to
contend with delays at the Land Registry;
The contract of the former CEO ended during the year with
a new CEO assuming the role. However, by year end, the
post had become vacant with Senior Manager, Finance and
Administration, Jeremiah Edward, assuming the role of
Officer in Charge;

Agreement (CBA) was not re-negotiated as planned. However,
before the close of 2017, the Union had managed to chair a
meeting to discuss staff matters, as a start to the process;
•

Delays in the delivery of a planned leadership training for the
ISL team;

•

Notwithstanding the implementation of additional security
measures, Duty Free Pointe Seraphine (DFPS) continues
to grapple with the issue of unauthorised taxi drivers and
vendors soliciting cruise passengers;

•

Shortfall in revenue earnings from DFPS as a result of rental
waivers granted to DFPS tenants in light of the berth extension
works and the resultant slowdown in footfall at the Shopping
Complex during the year.

Despite ISL’s best efforts to convene a meeting with the
Civil Service Association (CSA), the Collective Bargaining

OUTLOOK

Invest Saint Lucia anticipates that several investments will make
significant progress in 2018, following the receipt of requisite
approvals and licenses. Additionally, ISL is looking forward to
accomplishing its various plans as outlined in its respective work
programmes.
•

Exploratory work on the construction of a race course
in Beausejour, Vieux Fort, which forms the first phase of
the Pearl of the Caribbean project, began in 2017 and is
expected to continue throughout 2018.

•

The GP Group’s 4-5 star, 120-room and 40-villa hotel
development under the Fairmount Hotel & Resort broke
ground on the Sab Wisha beach in July 2017, paving
the way for the construction of the Resort which sits on
approximately fifteen (15) acres of beachfront property.

•

Range Developments’ Ritz Carlton hotel, will comprise an
initial 80 rooms on 40 of the 165-acre development. The
hotel will also include 4 dining options, a holistic spa and 5
meeting and function areas. ISL continues to work with the
affected Black Bay farmers as it pertains to the relocation of
their active farming interests on the site.
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•

Chefs Choice automated pasta manufacturing facility at
Vide Bouteille, Castries is expected to officially commence
operations with approximately twenty-five (25) employees
in 2018.

•

The highly anticipated opening of the Ultra Lounge,
construction of which began in September 2017, has been
projected at January 2018. Pure Vibe Entertainment is
responsible for the Ultra Lounge, which will be a new sound
proofed, ultra-contemporary designed entertainment
venue. An estimated eighteen (18) full-time and 7 part-time
staff are expected to be employed when the venue opens.
Ultra-Lounge is located on the Rodney Bay strip.

•

The Apple Leisure Group (ALG) announced that it will be
bringing two of its luxury, all-inclusive resort brands to Saint
Lucia in 2020. Micoud is the proposed site for the Resort
which will comprise residences, condominiums and two
hotels managed and branded by AMResorts.

•

While an overall redevelopment of Port Castries is being
considered, the aim of DFPS is to continue building on
initiatives introduced during 2017, including the increase

in footfall due to general upgrades, particularly the berth extension
and the anticipation of Quantum/Oasis class cruise ship calls in
2018, with the inaugural call slated for January 2018.
•

DFPS also looks forward to the completion of phase 2 of the bypass
road as part of the traffic management plan to reduce congestion
and overcrowding along the Pointe Seraphine Road.

•

Continued engagement with Port Police and the newly contracted
security company will be given utmost priority in the coming year, as
DFPS looks to improving policies that govern its overall operations
with a view to deterring would-be solicitors.

•

Increased brand awareness to keep DFPS top-of-mind remains
a priority. New marketing initiatives will be rolled out, portraying
the Complex as an ideal location for shopping, dining and a casual
rendezvous.

•

The dissolution of National Landco Limited and the subsequent
merging of the classification of lands as “strategic” and “nonstrategic” will inevitably result in a more wholistic approach to land
development, with all land being considered strategic.

•

The process of regularization of occupiers of ISL lands is expected to
continue throughout the ensuing year.

•

The adoption and execution of an investment policy to better guide
and manage facilitation of investment, remains a priority.

•

In 2018, the Human Resources Department plans to implement a
comprehensive work programme with a greater focus on areas such
as performance management and leadership.

•

•

During 2018 Invest Saint Lucia (ISL) will implement a new Investor
Tracking System (ITS) that captures information on current and
prospective investors and tracks relationships across the entire
investment cycle. This will enable ISL to provide consistent,
professional, and timely services to investors, while monitoring,
analysing, and reporting on progress. The system will be built on
Microsoft Dynamics Customer Relationship Management (CRM)
software.

•

The fully-serviced lots in the Bois Jolie, Dennery residential
development will be sold during 2018, with construction scheduled
to begin thereafter.

•

A residential development is planned for Beauchamp in Micoud.
It is anticipated that plans will be finalized and approved with
construction initiated within the year.

•

In its continued efforts to support the BPO Sector, ISL will initiate
the refurbishment of a 20,000 square feet factory shell situated in
the Hewanorra Airport Freezone to accommodate the operations of
investors in that sector.

•

Plans are being developed to support micro and small businesses
and entrepreneurs as part of an incubator programme spearheaded
by ISL with support from other government agencies.

•

Maintenance work will continue throughout the industrial Estates
managed by ISL. Works will include proactive flood mitigation
projects in addition to replacement of aged roofs.

•

Factory shell DY1 situated in the Dennery Industrial Estate will
be refurbished to accommodate a poultry processing plant to be
operated by Caribbean Quality Meats.

ISL’s computer network will be enhanced through complete
upgrades of its hardware and software systems. These upgrades will
be focused on improvements to network performance, reliability,
redundancy and security.
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MANAGEMENT TEAM
Nicole DuBoulay
Senior Manager, Human Resources.
A Certified Human Resource Leader (CHRL) through the Human Resources
Professionals Association of Ontario, Canada, Mrs. DuBoulay has over twelve years
of senior level Human Resource Management experience. Her last four years were
spent developing and executing the Human Resources (HR) Strategy for one of the
leading utility companies in the Caribbean.
She holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Psychology from York University in Canada, and two
Masters Degrees in Business Administration (McMaster University, Canada) and
Training & Performance Management (University of Leicester, United Kingdom).
Nicole is also a member of the Society for Human Resource Management (SHRM)
in the United States.

Jeremiah Edward
Jeremiah Edward - Senior Manager, Finance and Administration.
Mr. Edward joined Invest Saint Lucia in August of 2000 as an Accounts Officer. During
his seventeen-year tenure he has succeeded up the ranks from Accounts Supervisor
to Senior Accountant. He was promoted to his current position in 2016.
In his capacity as Senior Manager, Finance and Administration, a position to which
he was promoted in 2016, Mr. Edward is responsible for ensuring that all internal
controls and procedures are adhered to and maintained.
He possesses a wealth of experience in the field of Finance and Accounting and is in
the final year of completing ACCA qualification.

Samantha Charles
Legal Counsel/Corporate Secretary.
Ms. Charles brings to the post twelve years of experience in private and public law.
Most recently she held the post of Legal Officer IV with the Public and Teaching
Service Commission.
She undertook her legal training in England, where she was called to the Bar of
England and Wales in 2004. She was called to the bar in Saint Lucia later that same
year.
Ms. Charles is the holder of a Master of Laws in Legislative Drafting with distinction,
as well as a Bachelor of Science in International Relations and Management Studies
from the University of the West Indies.
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Lancelot Arnold
Senior Manager, Properties and Projects.
Mr. Arnold is an accomplished manager with over 15 years’ experience in project
management, development and property management. He has been pivotal in
the project management team for the creation and refurbishment of first class
commercial properties in Saint Lucia such as the Audi Building, La Place Carenage
Shopping Center and the JQ Rodney Bay Mall.
He has a proven talent for analyzing problems and establishing structures and
systems to achieve optimal results. He is a driven leader with an exceptional track
record of leading various sized multidiscipline teams such as the National Insurance
Property Development and Management Company (NIPRO).

Lyndon Samuel
Information Systems Advisor.
Mr. Samuel is Microsoft Certified and has headed the Information Technology
Department since 2004. His skills include the deployment of key Information
technologies including system design and integration, client server networks,
desktop and database management systems.
He also has in-depth expertise in Microsoft Enterprise platforms including Windows
Server, Exchange Server, SQL Server and SharePoint that he has used to implement
people-focused solutions to employees and partners; increasing their engagement;
and allowing them to deliver maximum productivity.
Mr. Samuel is a graduate of Saint Mary’s University. He holds a Bachelor of Science
and Diploma in Engineering.

Alana Lansiquot-Brice
Investment Promotion & Fulfilment Manager.
Employed with Invest Saint Lucia since April 2010 as an Investment Officer, Mrs.
Lansiquot-Brice has been promoted twice during her seven-year tenure. She has
been serving in the capacity of Investment Promotion and Fulfilment Manager since
2015. In this role, she is responsible for all investment promotion and facilitation
efforts of the organization.
She is an accomplished professional with international experience in the areas of
finance, accounting, law, sales, project analysis and brokerage investment. Mrs.
Lansiquot-Brice is the holder of a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration and
a Master’s Degree in International Business.
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MANAGEMENT TEAM
Natasha Edwin-Walcott
Research, Policy Advocacy and Communications Manager.
Mrs. Edwin-Walcott is responsible for forging strategic partnerships with
government ministries, private and public-sector agencies as well as managing
the agency’s corporate communications and public relations. Prior to this,
she worked as an international trade negotiator and policy advisor on behalf
of OECS Governments, stationed at the OECS Office in Geneva Switzerland.
She holds a BA (Hons) in Politics and International Relations, and an MA
in Globalisation, Development and Transition, both from the University
of Westminster UK. She is currently pursuing an MSc in International
Management from the University of Liverpool UK. She also holds a professional
certification in Project Management.

Dawn Lambert
Operations Manager, Duty Free Pointe Seraphine.
Ms. Lambert joined team ISL in September of 2010 after spending
thirteen years in the private sector serving as an Executive Secretary and
later Office Manager. After serving with an exemplary record in the post
of Executive Assistant to the CEO, she was promoted to the position of
Human Resource Officer in 2012, and again moved up the ranks in 2015
to her current position.
She is the holder of a Graduate Diploma in Human Resource Management
from the University of Wales and a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from the University of Leicester.

David Desir
Land Administration Manager.
Mr. Desir previously served as Deputy Chief Physical Planner and
Acting Commissioner of Crown Lands with the Government of Saint
Lucia. He is a member of the Minister’s Task Force responsible for
reviewing planning standards in Saint Lucia. He is also integrally
involved in community work and serves as a Justice of the Peace.
He is the holder of a Bachelor of Science Degree in Horticulture
and Soil Science from the Alabama Agricultural and Mechanical
University, graduating with first class honors. He also holds a
Professional Master of Arts Degree in Urban and Regional Planning
with a specialization in Land Use Planning.
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Harbor Club, Rodney Bay, Gros Islet

2017 INVESTMENT SUMMARY
1.0 INTRODUCTION
The investment summary seeks to provide a concise overview of direct investment inflows (domestic
and FDI) to Saint Lucia for the period 2017.
This report also presents the historic trend of total direct investments including the FDI flows into
Saint Lucia over the last ten years. In addition, the report will highlight the major investment projects
that contributed to the investment flows for the 2017 review period.

1.1

Total Direct Investment (FDI and domestic investment)

The total direct investment reported for the review period totaled USD $106,121,037. A total of 1,770
new jobs were created as a result of the capital expenditure from the investment projects reported.
1,448 of these were permanent jobs, while the remaining 322 were transient jobs created during the
construction and expansion phases of primarily tourism-related projects.
The table below shows the sector contribution for capital expenditure and job creation.

Capital Expenditure Capital Expenditure
US$ Millions
EC$ Millions

Sector
Tourism
Infrastructure
Manufacturing
Total

101,584,000
4,322,222
214,815
106,121,037

274,276,800
11,669,999
580,001
286,526,800

Jobs Created
Transient
Permanent Total Jobs
285
1,345
1,630
27
86
113
10
17
27
322
1,448
1,770

No. of jobs Created

Source: Invest Saint Lucia Annual Investor Survey 2017

2000
1,800
1,600
1.400
1,200
1,000
800
600
400
200
0

Total Jobs Created

Total Temporary Jobs

Permanent Jobs

Source: Invest Saint Lucia Annual Investor Survey 2017
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Royalton Hotel, Cap Estate, Gros Islet
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2017 INVESTMENT SUMMARY
1.2 Sector Contribution
As with previous years, the tourism sector led capital
expenditure (CAPEX), accounting for 96% of total CAPEX,
creating a total of 1,630 jobs in 2017. This figure represents
92% of total employment.
The infrastructure sector was the second largest
contributor to direct investment, accounting for 4% of the
CAPEX. A total of 113 jobs were created representing 6%
of total employment.
The manufacturing sector contributed less than 1% of total
direct investment, while creating a total of 27 jobs or 2% of
total employment. Figures 1.2 and 1.3 illustrate this.

Manufacturing 0%

Infrastructure 4 %

6%

Infrastructure
Manufacturing

2%
92%

Tourism
0%

20%

40%

60%

80% 100%

Figure 1.3: Job Creation by Sector

The investment flows were derived from some major
projects: the Royalton St. Lucia Resort & Spa; the Harbor
Club; St. James Club Morgan Bay; Bel Jou and Coconut
Bay Beach Resort and Spa. These projects accounted for
93% of total direct investment flows into Saint Lucia for
the period under review. Moreover, these investments
and project expansions contributed significantly towards
job creation, particularly for Saint Lucians.
Officially opened in February of 2017, the Royalton St.
Lucia Resort & Spa has added 453 rooms to Saint Lucia’s
accommodation stock.
The Harbor Club hotel also began operations in 2017.
It has complemented Saint Lucia’s growing room stock
with an additional 115 hotel rooms.
The Coconut Bay Beach Resort & Spa completed and
opened its new 36 plunge pool suites – Serenity at
Coconut Bay in 2017.

Tourism 96%

Figure 1.2: Direct Capital Expenditure Sector Contribution
Source: Invest Saint Lucia Annual Investor Survey 2017
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The four-star Bel Jou Hotel also added an additional 12
rooms to its accommodation stock during the review
period.

Staff at OJO Labs, the newest investment in the Business Process Outsourcing sector.
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2017 INVESTMENT SUMMARY
Domestic 6 %

1.2 Foreign Direct Investment
(FDI) Inflows
The FDI reported for the review period 2017, totaled US
$99,529,222., which accounted for 94% of total direct
investment. As was the case in 2016, the greatest portion of
foreign investment was concentrated in the tourism sector,
accounting for 90% of FDI inflows into Saint Lucia. This was
followed by the soft infrastructure sector, which encompasses
contact center operations. See figure 1.3 (a).

FDI 94%
Figure 1.3 (a) Direct Investment Distribution
Source: Invest Saint Lucia Annual Investor Survey 2017

The figure below 1.3 (b) shows the FDI trend into Saint Lucia for the last 10 years.
Following a 5-year slump from 2008 to 2013, reflecting global contraction due to the economic recession, FDI
inflows were on the upsurge due to a resurgence and confidence in the international economy. However, 2017
experienced a drop in FDI, consistent with UNCTAD’s Global Investment Trends Monitor that reported a 16% fall
in global FDI spend.
A number of factors would have contributed to that downward shift, including Saint Lucia’s investment climate
and difficulties associated with the ease of doing business. Invest Saint Lucia will nonetheless work unceasingly
to ensure those pipeline investments receive significant attention and mobilization in 2018 and beyond.

FDI Flows in US$ Millions

Figure 1.3 (b): FDI Trend 2008-2017

Source: ECCB; Invest Saint Lucia; Social Economic Review
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2012
75.76

2013
54.3

2014
120.00

2015
127.39

2016
130

2017
99

1.4 Conclusion
The socio-economic benefits from direct investment
cannot be overstated. Based on the information
presented, the tourism sector continues to be the largest
generator of investments and employment in Saint Lucia.
Saint Lucia remains a place of interest for potential
investors as well as existing investors given their
commitment to reinvestment in Saint Lucia. However, a
sustained enabling business environment is necessary to
encourage inward investment flows. It is anticipated that
the number of investment projects earmarked for 2018
and beyond will further spur economic activity to generate
sustainable growth and development in Saint Lucia.
In this regard, Invest Saint Lucia will continue to play
an integral role in promoting the whole of government
approach to business facilitation. ISL will continue to tout
the island as an ideal location for investments, publicizing
investment opportunities and shovel-ready projects to
catalyze inward investment into the economy.
Saint Lucia is at the cusp of major transformative projects,
and the development plans including the redevelopment
of the Capital city, relocation of the cargo port and
Hewannora Airport redevelopments and southern
projects including opening up the north-south corridor,
will only redound to increasing Saint Lucia’s capital and
value proposition as a beacon in the Eastern Caribbean
and the Caribbean at large.
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Duty Free Pointe Seraphine Shopping Complex is conveniently located within walking distance
of the city of Castries. Our shops are opened from 9:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. Mondays – Fridays
and 9:00 a.m. – 2:30 p.m. on Saturdays. Shopping hours are extended during the cruise ship
season and on special occasions, for added shopping convenience. Do remember to bring along
your Airline Ticket and Passport so that you can take advantage of the duty free bargains available.
For more information visit www.dutyfreepointeseraphine.com
like
us on
facebook.com/dutyfreepointeseraphineshoppingcomplex
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PKF St. Lucia
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Board of Directors of Invest Saint Lucia
To the Board of Directors of Invest Saint Lucia
Report on the Financial Statements
Report on the Financial Statements
Opinion
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Invest Saint Lucia, which comprise the separate
Westatement
have audited
the financial
statements
of Invest
which
comprise
the separate
of financial
position
as at December
31,Saint
2017,Lucia,
and the
separate
statement
of surplus
statement
of
financial
position
as
at
December
31,
2017,
and
the
separate
statement
of surplus
or deficit and other comprehensive income, separate statement of changes in equity and
separate
or deficit
and
other
comprehensive
income,
separate
statement
of
changes
in
equity
and
separate
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including
statement
of cash
flows for accounting
the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary
of significant
policies.
a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
In our
opinion,
the accompanying
statements
present
fairly, in
all its
material
respects,
the
financial
position
of Invest Saintfinancial
Lucia as
at December
31, 2017,
and
financial
performance
financial
position
of
Invest
Saint
Lucia
as
at
December
31,
2017,
and
its
financial
performance
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
and
its cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards
(“IFRSs”).
Standards (“IFRSs”).
Basis for Opinion
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
Weresponsibilities
conducted ourunder
audit those
in accordance
Standards
Auditing
(“ISAs”). Ourfor
standardswith
are International
further described
in the on
Auditor’s
Responsibilities
responsibilities
under
those
standards
are
further
described
in
the
Auditor’s
Responsibilities
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of Invest for
Saint
theLucia
Auditinofaccordance
the Financial
section
of our
report. We
arefor
independent
of Invest
withStatements
the International
Ethics
Standards
Board
Accountants’
Code ofSaint
Ethics
Lucia
accordanceAccountants
with the International
Standards
for Accountants’
Code of Ethics
for in
Professional
(“IESBAEthics
Code”)
togetherBoard
with the
ethical requirements
that are
forrelevant
Professional
(“IESBAstatements
Code”) together
with and
the we
ethical
that ethical
are
to our Accountants
audit of the financial
in St. Lucia,
haverequirements
fulfilled our other
relevant
to
our
audit
of
the
financial
statements
in
St.
Lucia,
and
we
have
fulfilled
our
other
ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the
responsibilities
in accordance
with these
requirements
and the IESBA
Code.a basis
We believe
the
audit evidence
we have obtained
is sufficient
and appropriate
to provide
for thethat
opinion.
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for the opinion.
Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements
Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
Management
is responsible
the
and
fair presentation
of thedetermines
financial statements
in accordance
with IFRSs,for
and
forpreparation
such internal
control
as management
is necessary
in accordance
withpreparation
IFRSs, and of
forfinancial
such internal
control as
determines
necessary
to enable the
statements
thatmanagement
are free from
materialismisstatement,
to whether
enable the
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
due preparation
to fraud or error.
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the separate financial statements, management is responsible for assessing Invest
In preparing
the ability
separate
financialas
statements,
management
is responsible
for assessing
Invest to
Saint Lucia’s
to continue
a going concern,
disclosing,
as applicable,
matters related
Saint
Lucia’s
ability
to
continue
as
a
going
concern,
disclosing,
as
applicable,
matters
related
to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
going
concern
and
using
the
going
concern
basis
of
accounting
unless
management
either
intends to liquidate Invest Saint Lucia or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
intends
do so.to liquidate Invest Saint Lucia or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to
do so.
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing Invest Saint Lucia’s financial reporting
The
Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing Invest Saint Lucia’s financial reporting
process.
process.

1

1 8245, Meridian Place, Castries, LC02 801, St. Lucia
PKF Professional Services Inc., P. O Box Choc
PKF Professional PKF
Services
Inc., P. OisBox
Choc 8245,
Meridian
Place, Castries,
LC02
801, St. Lucia
International
a network
of Legally
Independent
Member
Firms
PKF International is a network of Legally Independent Member Firms
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of Invest Saint Lucia’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on Invest Saint Lucia’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause Invest Saint Lucia to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONT’D)
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (cont’d)
We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Accountants
Castries, Saint Lucia
July 4, 2018
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INVEST SAINT LUCIA

Separate Statement of Financial Position
As at December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2017
$

2016
$

5,150,989
1,569,497
16,965,132

2,070,184
1,478,909
16,736,570

23,685,618

20,285,663

603,481
11,535,544
15,412,097
10,275,350
880,260
1
27,865
2,111,604
32,928,494

794,587
11,754,797
15,731,517
6,400,000
910,860
1
72,041
2,124,103
30,186,225

73,774,696

67,974,131

97,460,314

88,259,794

184,899
2,236,646
677,485
3,336,597

378,696
2,610,028
937,177
3,284,343

6,435,627

7,210,244

4,439,631
2,976,668
419,614

4,624,554
2,976,668
313,454

7,835,913

7,914,676

14,271,540

15,124,920

42,565,638
(471,600)
41,094,736

37,064,173
(441,000)
36,511,701

83,188,774

73,134,874

97,460,314

88,259,794

Notes

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Investment securities: loans and receivables

5
6
8

Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables
Land developments
Land inventory
Investment securities: loans and receivables
Investment securities: available-for-sale
Investment in subsidiaries
Other assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties

6
7
8
8
9
12
11
13

Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other payables
Provision for future development costs
Deferred revenue

14
15
16
17

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Provision for future development costs
Due to subsidiary

14
16
18

Total liabilities
Equity
Contributed capital
Fair value reserve
Accumulated surplus

19

Total liabilities and equity

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
SIGNED ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Director

Director
4
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INVEST SAINT LUCIA

Separate Statement of Surplus or Deficit and Other Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
Notes

2017
$

2016
$

Revenue

22

18,334,468

14,624,209

Direct costs

22

(13,751,185)

(6,129,273)

4,583,283

8,494,936

Departmental operating profit
General and administrative expenses

23

(2,980,930)

(3,340,970)

Other income - net

25

3,082,044

2,901,109

4,684,397

8,055,075

(101,362)

(147,946)

4,583,035

7,907,129

(30,600)

(21,000)

4,552,435

7,886,129

Operating surplus
Finance cost - net

26

Surplus for the year
Other comprehensive loss
Items that will be reclassified to surplus or deficit:
Fair value loss on available-for-sale financial assets
Comprehensive income for the year

8

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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INVEST SAINT LUCIA

Separate Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
Notes
Contributed capital
At beginning of year
Additional capital contributed

2017
$

2016
$

37,064,173
5,501,465

37,017,476
46,697

At end of year

19

42,565,638

37,064,173

Fair value reserve
At beginning of year
Fair value loss on available-for-sale assets

8

(441,000)
(30,600)

(420,000)
(21,000)

(471,600)

(441,000)

36,511,701
4,583,035

33,626,302
(5,021,730)
7,907,129

At end of year

41,094,736

36,511,701

Equity, end of year

83,188,774

73,134,874

At end of year
Accumulated surplus
At beginning of year
Repayment of surplus
Surplus for the year

20

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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INVEST SAINT LUCIA

Separate Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2017
$

2016
$

4,583,035

7,907,129

(1,497,034)
(831,584)
1,126,350
112,599

(1,383,125)
(664,210)
1,120,026
156,306

32,214

(52,266)

Operating surplus before working capital changes

3,525,580

7,083,860

Decrease in trade and other receivables
Decrease in land developments cost
Decrease in inventory
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables
Decrease in provision for future development costs
Increase/ (decrease) in deferred revenue
Increase in due to subsidiary

388,366
219,253
319,420
(373,382)
(259,692)
52,254
106,160

12,740,083
1,075,309
312,484
37,976
(1,235,578)
(14,808)
46,715

Cash generated from operations
Interest paid

3,977,959
(112,599)

20,046,041
(156,306)

Net cash generated from operating activities

3,865,360

19,889,735

1,379,034
661,736
(9,340)
(4,016,303)
(175,451)
(29,365,610)
916
356,020

1,609,125
689,408
(11,601)
(1,580,337)
(167,909)
(26,886,570)
150,000
-

25,261,698

24,655,665

(5,907,300)

(1,542,219)

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings
Increase in contributed capital
Repayment of surplus

(378,720)
5,501,465
-

(12,869,789)
46,697
(5,021,730)

Net cash generated from/(used) financing activities

5,122,745

(17,844,822)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

3,080,805

502,694

Cash flows from operating activities
Surplus for the year
Adjustments for:
Dividend income
Interest income
Depreciation
Interest expense
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
and investment properties

Cash flows from investing activities
Dividend income received
Interest income received
Purchase of other assets
Purchases of investment properties
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Purchases of investment securities: loans and receivables
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of investment properties
Proceeds from redemption of investment securities:
loans and receivables

Notes

25
25
11,13,12
26
25

12
13
11

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year

5

2,070,184

1,567,490

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year

5

5,150,989

2,070,184

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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INVEST SAINT LUCIA

Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
1.

Incorporation and principal activity
Invest Saint Lucia; formerly the National Development Agency is a Government Statutory
Body which was established by the National Development Agency Act, 1971 (with
subsequent amendments) to promote the economic development of Saint Lucia.
The Act of 1971 was superseded by Act No. 23 of 2001 in support of the new
focus/functions of the Agency’s economic activities. The Act defines the powers of the
Agency. By Cabinet Conclusion No. 237 of 2013 the National Development Agency Act,
No. 23 of 2001 was superseded by the Invest Saint Lucia Act No.14 of 2014 and includes
the name change from National Development Agency to Invest Saint Lucia. Invest Saint
Lucia is exempt from the payments of income tax and customs duties.
Invest Saint Lucia’s registered office and principal place of business is located on the 1st
Floor, Heraldine Rock Building, Waterfront, Castries, Saint Lucia.
The separate financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and
authorized for issue on July 4, 2018, and are prepared for the purpose of complying with
statutory reporting requirements.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
(a)

Statement of compliance
The separate financial statements of Invest Saint Lucia have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and under the historical
cost convention.

(b)

Basis for preparation
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgment in the process of applying the Agency’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed
in Note 3.
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Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(c)

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations

(i)

New standards, amendments and interpretations effective in the 2017 financial
year are as follows:
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017 have been
adopted in these financial statements. Note: those new standards, amendments
and interpretations effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1,
2017 which do not affect the Company’s separate financial statements have not
been disclosed below.
•

IAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows was amended to clarify that entities shall
provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. One way is to provide a
reconciliation of the opening and closing carrying amounts for each item for
which cash flows have been classified as financial activities. The reconciliation
should include (to the extent necessary): (i) changes from financing cash flows;
(ii) changes arising from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries or other
businesses; (iii) the effect of changes in foreign exchange rates; (iv) changes in
fair values; and (v) other changes.

The application of this amendment did not have a material impact on the Invest
Saint Lucia’s separate financial statements.
(ii)

Standards, amendments and interpretations that are issued but not effective and
have not been early adopted are as follows:
Note: Those new standards, amendments and interpretations that are issued but
not effective which do not affect the Company’s financial statements have not been
disclosed below.
• IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures was amended to require additional
disclosures when an entity first applies IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which
include the changes in the categories and carrying amounts of financial
instruments before and after the application of the new standard. These
amendments apply when an entity applies IFRS 9.
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Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(c)

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations (cont’d)
• IFRS 9, Financial Instruments issued in November 2009 introduced new
requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS
9 was subsequently amended in October 2010 to include requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities and for de-recognition, and
in November 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge
accounting. Another revised version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014 to
mainly include the impairment requirements for financial assets and limited
amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by
introducing a “fair value through other comprehensive income” (FVTOCI)
measurement category for certain simple debt instruments. IFRS 9 is effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
It is anticipated that the application of IFRS 9 in the future may have a material
impact on amounts reported in respect to the Company’s separate financial
assets and liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of the effect of IFRS 9 until a detailed review is undertaken.
• IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers was issued in May 2014 and
establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 will supersede the
current revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11
Construction Contracts and the related interpretations. The core principle of
IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when or as a
performance obligation is satisfied, that is, when control of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.
In April 2016, IFRS 15 was amended to clarify three aspects of the standard
(identifying performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, and
licensing) and to provide some transition relief for modified contracts and
completed contracts.
This new standard is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2018. It is anticipated that the application of IFRS 15 in the future may have
a material impact on amounts reported in respect to Invest Saint Lucia separate
financial statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable
estimate of the effect of IFRS 15 until a detailed review is undertaken.
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Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(c)

New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations (cont’d)
• IFRS 16, Leases was issued in January 2016 and will supersede IAS 17,
Leases. This standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring
lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is
12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value. Lessors continue to
classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor
accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor.
This new standard is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2019. It is anticipated that the application of IFRS 16 in the future may have
a material impact on amounts reported in respect to Invest Saint Lucia’s
separate financial statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of the effect of IFRS 16 until a detailed review is
undertaken.
• IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration was
issued to clarify the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or
income (or part of it) on the de-recognition of a non-monetary asset or nonmonetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration
in a foreign currency.
This interpretation is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018. It is not anticipated that the application of this amendment
will have a material impact on amounts reported in respect to Invest Saint
Lucia’s separate financial statements.

(d)

Foreign currency translation
Functional and presentation currency
Items in the separate financial statements are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The separate financial statements are presented in Eastern Caribbean
dollars, which is Invest Saint Lucia’s functional and presentation currency.
Transactions and balances
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than Eastern
Caribbean dollars are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the reporting
date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities and transactions denominated in
currencies other than Eastern Caribbean dollars are translated at the rate of
exchange ruling at the date of the transaction. Foreign exchange gains and losses
are charged to the separate statement of surplus or deficit.
Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities classified as
available-for-sale financial assets, are included in the fair value reserve in equity.
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Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(e)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are carried on the statement of financial position at
cost. For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
comprise balances with a maturity period of three months or less from the date of
acquisition including cash on hand and deposits held on call with banks and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdraft, if any, are shown within borrowings in current liabilities
on the separate statement of financial position.

(f)

Financial assets
Invest Saint Lucia classifies its financial assets in the following categories: loans
and receivables and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose
for which the investment is acquired. Management determines the classification
of its investments at initial recognition.
(i)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets, with fixed or
determinable payments which are not quoted in an active market and
where management has no intention of trading them. They are included in
current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months,
which are classed as non-current assets.
Loans and receivables are initially recognized at fair value - which is the
cash consideration to originate or purchase the loan including any
transaction costs - and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method. Loans and receivables are reported in the
balance sheet as investments securities. Interest on investment securities
is included in the separate statement of surplus or deficit. In the case of
impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the
carrying value of the loan and recognised in the separate statement of
surplus or deficit.
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Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(f)

Financial assets (cont’d)
(ii)

Available-for-sale
Available-for sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that
are designated as available for sale or are not classified as (a) loans and
receivables (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus
transaction costs and derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or where Invest Saint Lucia has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale
financial assets are recognized in other comprehensive income, until the
financial asset is derecognized or impaired at which time the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is
transferred to the separate statement of surplus or deficit. Related interest
income is recognized in the separate statement of surplus or deficit and
dividend income is also recognized in the separate statement of surplus or
deficit when Invest Saint Lucia’s right to receive payment is established.
The fair values of quoted investments in active markets are based on bid
prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted
securities), Invest Saint Lucia establishes fair value by using valuation
techniques. These include recent arm’s length transactions, discounted
cash flow analysis and other valuation techniques commonly used by
market participants.

(iii)

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(g)

Impairment of financial assets: Available-for-sale assets
Invest Saint Lucia assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group or financial assets is impaired. In the
case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered in determining
whether the securities are impaired. If such evidence exists, the cumulative loss
which is measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized
in surplus or deficit, is removed from equity and recognized in the separate
statement of surplus or deficit.
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Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(h)

Impairment of financial assets: Trade receivables
Trade receivable are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortized cost less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade
receivables is established when there is objective evidence that Invest Saint Lucia
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original contract terms.
The amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced by the use of
an allowance account and the amount of loss is recognized in the separate
statement of surplus or deficit.
When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written-off against the allowance for
trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written-off are
credited in the separate statement of surplus or deficit.

(i)

Investments in subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities over which Invest Saint Lucia has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than one half of the voting rights.
Investments in subsidiaries are recorded at cost less any provision for impairment.

(j)

Land developments
The land developments comprise of inventory of land held for development and
costs, both actual and estimated, associated with development. The development
costs is written to cost of sales on the basis of land sold in each development in
each period. Land development is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less selling costs.

(k)

Land for sale
Land for sale consists of agriculture and undeveloped land that have been vested
by the Government of Saint Lucia which is for sale to investors. Inventory of land
for sale is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less selling costs.
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Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(l)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included
in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to Invest Saint Lucia and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the separate statement of surplus
or deficit during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation is calculated using either the reducing balance or straight line
method to allocate the cost less salvage over their estimated useful lives as
follows:
Leasehold improvements
Motor vehicles
Furniture and fittings
Office equipment

2%
20%
10%
12%

Straight line method
Straight line method
Reducing balance method
Reducing balance method

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each reporting date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds
received to the outstanding carrying amount. These are included in the separate
statement of surplus or deficit.
(m)

Investment properties
Investment properties principally comprises of a shopping complex and factory
shells. Investment property is carried at cost, held for long-term rental yields and
capital gains and is not occupied by Invest Saint Lucia. Depreciation is calculated
on the straight-line method to write-off the cost of each building and leasehold
improvement to their residual value over their estimated useful lives at a rate of
2%. Land is not depreciated.

(n)

Impairment of non-financial assets
At the end of each reporting period, all non-financial assets are assessed for any
indicators of impairment. If an indicator exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
must be calculated. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the
asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).
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Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(o)

Trade payables
Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

(p)

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the
separate statement of surplus or deficit over the period of the borrowing using the
effective interest method.
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless Invest Saint Lucia has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting date.

(q)

Contributed capital
Contributed capital represents cash, investments, land and buildings vested by
the Government of Saint Lucia in Invest Saint Lucia and are all recognized at fair
value in the period in which they are vested.

(r)

Leases
Leases are accounted for as operating leases in accordance with International
Accounting Standard 17. In instances where Invest Saint Lucia is the lessor, rental
income is recorded as revenue and the related building is reflected as investment
properties. In the instances where Invest Saint Lucia is the lessee, rental expense
is recorded.

(s)

Revenue and expense recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for
the sale of goods and services, net of discounts in the ordinary course of Invest
Saint Lucia's activities. Revenue is recognized as follows:
(i)

Land sales
Income from land sales is recognized upon issuance of a deed of sale and
when costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably. Deposits received prior to the completion of the
transaction are recorded as advanced deposits in deferred revenue.

(ii)

Rental income
Rental income is recorded on an accrual basis.

(iii)

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is
established.

(iv)

Other income
Other income is recorded on an accrual basis.
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INVEST SAINT LUCIA

Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(t)

Revenue and expense recognition (cont’d)
(v)

Interest income
Interest income is recognized on a time-proportion basis using the effective
interest rate method.

(vi)

Expenses
Expenses are recognized when incurred under the accrual basis.

(t)

Cost of land sold
The cost of land sold is determined on the basis of the cost of land inventory plus
development costs of unsold land apportioned over the total area sold each year
for each project.

(u)

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by Invest Saint
Lucia before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts
voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. Invest Saint Lucia
recognizes termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either
terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal
plan without the possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as a
result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due
more than 12 months after the reporting date are discounted to present value.
Gratuity payments to contractual employees are also accounted for as terminal
benefits.

(v)

Provisions
Provisions, if any, are recognized, when Invest Saint Lucia has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably
estimated.
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period.

(w)

Contingencies
Contingent liabilities represent possible obligations and are disclosed in the
separate financial statements unless the possibility of the outflow of resources
embodying the economic benefit is remote. A contingent asset is not r ecognized
in the separate financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable.

(x)

Subsequent events
Post year-end events that provide additional information about Invest Saint
Lucia’s position at the reporting date (adjusting events) are reflected in Invest
Saint Lucia's separate financial statements. Material post year-end events which
are not adjusting events are disclosed.
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Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (cont’d)
(y)

Comparative figures
Where necessary, certain prior year comparative figures have been changed to
conform to the changes in the current year’s presentation.

3.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.
Invest Saint Lucia makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that may have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year
are discussed below:
Provision for future development costs
Invest Saint Lucia’s Properties Management Department along with outsourced
consultants determined the future estimated costs of infrastructural development of land
held for resale. This was based on projected expenditure required to complete
development in order to facilitate the transfer to the purchaser.
Management reassesses the estimate at each year end and adjusts the provision for
future development costs as necessary.
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Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
4.

Financial risk management
In accordance with provisions of International Financial Reporting Standard No. 7,
disclosures are required regarding credit risks, liquidity risks, market risks and the fair
value of financial assets and liabilities.
(a)

Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the possibility that counterparties may default on their
obligations to Invest Saint Lucia. The amount of Invest Saint Lucia’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is indicated by the carrying amount of its financial assets.
Invest Saint Lucia operates primarily in the real estate industry and financial
instruments which potentially expose Invest Saint Lucia to concentrations of credit
risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
and investment securities:
Maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows:

2017
$

2016
$

5

5,149,724

2,068,934

6
8

1,958,784
27,240,482

1,919,621
23,136,570

34,348,990

27,125,125

2017
$

2016
$

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Impaired

1,057,431
901,353
3,425,946

771,679
1,147,942
3,634,097

Gross

5,384,730

5,553,718

(3,425,946)

(3,634,097)

1,958,784

1,919,621

Notes
Cash and cash equivalents
(excluding cash on hand)
Trade and other receivables
(excluding prepayments)
Investment securities: loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are summarised as follows:
Note

6

Less: Allowance for impairment
Net
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Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)
(a)

Credit risk (cont’d)
The total impairment provision for trade and other receivables recognized in the
separate statement of surplus or deficit is $506,660 (2016 - ($102,256). Further
information on the impairment allowance for trade and other receivables is
disclosed in Note 6.The credit quality of the portfolio of trade and other receivables
which were neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to the
internal rating system adopted by Invest Saint Lucia.
(i)

Trade and other receivables neither past due or impaired

Other
Receivables
$

As at December 31, 2017
Customers with no history of default

1,057,431

As at December 31, 2016
Customers with no history of default

(ii)

771,679

Trade and other receivables past due but not impaired
Gross amount of trade receivables, by age, for customers that were past
due but not impaired were as follows:

Past due up to 30 days
Past due 31-60 days
Past due 61-90 days
Past due over 90 days

20

2017
$

2016
$

86,363
56,805
134,693
623,492

134,324
60,202
9,463
943,953

901,353

1,147,942
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(b)

At December 31, 2016
Borrowings
Trade and other payables
Due to subsidiary

At December 31, 2017
Borrowings
Trade and other payables
Due to subsidiary

660,666

3,101,740

21

660,666
-

578,058

2,525,675

491,712
2,610,028
-

578,058
-

289,029
2,236,646
-

867,087

867,087
-

867,087

867,087
-

Less than
Between
Between
1 year 1 and 2 years 2 and 5 years
$
$
$

3,847,992

3,534,538
313,454

3,788,148

3,368,534
419,614

Over
5 years
$

8,477,485

5,554,003
2,610,028
313,454

7,758,968

5,102,708
2,236,646
419,614

Total
$

The table below analyses Invest Saint Lucia’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the separate statement of financial position to the contractual maturity dates. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Management monitors Invest Saint Lucia’s liquidity position on the basis of expected cash flow.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, Invest
Saint Lucia attempts to maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining availability under committed credit facilities coupled
with support from the Government of Saint Lucia.

Liquidity risk

Financial risk management (cont’d)
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4.

(d)

(c)

At December 31, 2017, if investment securities:- available for sale prices had been 10% higher/lower, with all
other variables held constant, net surplus and equity for the year would have been $27,840 higher/lower (2016
- $30,900 higher/lower).

Invest Saint Lucia is exposed to equity securities price risk because of investments held by Invest Saint Lucia
and classified on the statement of financial position as investment securities:- available-for-sale, at fair value.
Invest Saint Lucia is not exposed to commodity price risk.

Price risk

Differences in contractual re-pricing or maturity dates and changes in interest rates may expose Invest Saint
Lucia to interest rate risk. Invest Saint Lucia's exposure and interest rate risk on its financial assets and liabilities
are disclosed in Notes 5 and 14.

Interest rate risk

Changes in foreign currency rates may expose Invest Saint Lucia to currency risk. Invest Saint Lucia's
borrowings disclosed in Note 14, are denominated in United States dollars (US$). The exchange rate of the
Eastern Caribbean dollars (EC$) to the US$ is formally pegged at EC$2.70 = US$1.00. Management does
not believe that significant exposure to foreign currency risk exists as at December 31, 2017.

Foreign currency risk

22

Invest Saint Lucia’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide benefits for its stakeholders and to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.
Management may sell assets to reduce debts if necessary.

Capital management

•

•

•

Market risk is the risk that changes in market rates, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices will
affect the value of Invest Saint Lucia’s assets, the amount of its liabilities and/or Invest Saint Lucia’s income. Invest
Saint Lucia is exposed to market risk on its investments.

Market risk

Financial risk management (cont’d)
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(e)

(i)

Trade and other receivables
Investment securities: loans and receivables
Borrowings

2,172,978
25,777,188
3,073,736
31,023,902

34,037,990

Fair
Value
$

2,172,978
27,240,482
4,624,530

2017
Carrying
Value
$

30,413,316

2,273,496
23,136,570
5,003,250

2016
Carrying
Value
$

27,337,869

2,273,496
22,636,897
2,427,476

Fair
Value
$

The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not
valued at fair value.

Fair value amounts represent estimates of the consideration that would currently be agreed upon between
knowledgeable and willing parties, who are under no compulsion to act and is best evidenced by quoted market
values.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Financial risk management (cont’d)
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4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)
(e)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)
(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value
Fair value hierarchy
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value. The
different levels have been defined as follows:
•

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities. A market is regarded as active if quoted prices
are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis.

•

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly.

•

Level 3 - inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available.
Invest Saint Lucia considers relevant and observable market prices in its
valuations where possible.
The following table presents Invest Saint Lucia’s assets that are measured
at fair value.
Assets measured at fair value

Note

Level 2
$

At December 31, 2017
Financial assets: Investment securities
Available for sale - equity

8

278,400

At December 31, 2016
Financial assets: Investment securities
Available for sale - equity

8

309,000
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4.

Financial risk management (cont’d)
(e)

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities (cont’d)
(ii)

Financial instruments measured at fair value (cont’d)
The following table presents Invest Saint Lucia’s assets and liabilities for
which fair values are disclosed:

Level 2
$

At December 31, 2017
Trade and other receivables
Investment properties

2,172,978
100,558,409
4,619,007

Borrowings
At December 31, 2016
Trade and other receivables
Investment properties

2,273,496
100,558,409

Borrowings

5.

4,957,345

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on hand
Cash at bank - current account
Cash at bank - savings account

2017
$

2016
$

1,265
252,356
4,897,368

1,250
1,424,581
644,353

5,150,989

2,070,184

The weighted average effective interest rate on the savings account at December 31, 2017
was 0.50% (2016 - 1%). Of this balance, $399,219 (2016 - $399,219) has been placed in
escrow. As such, these amounts are not available for the day-to-day operations of Invest
Saint Lucia.
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6.

Trade and other receivables

2017
$

2016
$

3,614,088
(2,824,488)

4,121,979
(3,051,539)

789,600

1,070,440

Other receivables
Provision for impairment of other receivables

1,770,642
(601,458)

1,431,739
(582,558)

Other receivables (net)

1,169,184

849,181

214,194

353,875

2,172,978

2,273,496

2017
$

2016
$

Current
Non-current

1,569,497
603,481

1,478,909
794,587

Total trade and other receivables

2,172,978

2,273,496

Trade receivables
Provision for impairment of trade receivables
Trade receivables (net)

Prepayments
Total trade and other receivables
The classification of trade and other receivables is as follows:

The non-current receivables mature as follows:

Between 1 and 2 years
Between 2 and 5 years
Over 5 years
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2017
$

2016
$

430,558
172,923

615,393
54,000
125,194

603,481

794,587
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6.

Trade and other receivables (cont’’d)
The movement in Invest Saint Lucia’s provision for impairment of trade and other
receivables is as follows:

Note
At beginning of year
Impairment expense
Impairment recovery
Write off
4

At end of year

7.

8.

Land developments

2017
$

2016
$

3,634,097
506,660
(147,345)
(567,466)

4,319,281
102,255
(787,439)
-

3,425,946

3,634,097

2017
$

2016
$

Southern Shores development
At beginning and end of year

915,683

915,683

Other developments
At beginning of year
Land sales recognized in the year

10,839,114
(219,253)

11,914,424
(1,075,310)

At end of year

10,619,861

10,839,114

11,535,544

11,754,797

Investment securities

Debt securities at amortized cost with
fixed interest rate:
Loans and receivables
Current
Non-current

Available-for sale
Equity securities
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2017
$

2016
$

16,965,132
10,275,350

16,736,570
6,400,000

27,240,482

23,136,570

880,260

910,860
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8.

Investment securities (cont’d)

At December 31, 2017
At beginning of year
Purchases
Redemptions
Fair value loss during the year
At end of year
At December 31, 2016
At beginning of year
Purchases
Redemptions
Fair value loss during the year
At end of year

Loans and
Receivables
$

Availablefor-sale
$

23,136,570
29,365,610
(25,261,698)
-

910,860
(30,600)

27,240,482

880,260

20,905,665
26,886,570
(24,655,665)
-

931,860
(21,000)

23,136,570

910,860

Debt securities bear interest rates ranging from 1.50% to 7% (2016: 2.50% - 7%) per
annum. There were no debt securities that were considered past due or impaired at the
reporting date.
Unlisted available-for-sale equity securities are carried at cost. Invest Saint Lucia is not
able to reliably measure the fair value of the equity securities since the shares are not
traded in an active market and the future cash flows relating to the securities cannot be
reliably estimated.
Listed available-for-sale equity securities represent shareholdings in Eastern Caribbean
Financial Holdings Company Limited.
Note
Unlisted equity securities - measured at cost
Listed equity securities - measured at fair value
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2017
$

2016
$

601,860
278,400

601,860
309,000

880,260

910,860

INVEST
SAINT
LUCIAANNUAL
ANNUALREPORT
REPORT2017
2017 57
57
INVEST
SAINT
LUCIA

58
58 INVEST
INVEST SAINT
SAINT LUCIA
LUCIA ANNUAL
ANNUALREPORT
REPORT2017
2017

10.

9.

No. of Shareholding
Shares
%
100
100
100

456,000

Location
St. Lucia
St. Lucia 1,600,000
St. Lucia
3

(1,804,221)
(6,364,221)

6,364,222

(4,560,000)

Provision for
Impairment
$

1,804,221
1

4,560,000

Cost
$

1

1

-

Net
2017
$

1

1

-

Net
2016
$

196,000
10,000
2,700

49
33
25

No. of Shareholding
Shares
%

(196,000)
(10,000)
(270,000)
(476,000)

196,000
10,000
270,000
476,000

Provision for
Cost Impairment
$
$

29

The above companies are dormant, with no business activity, but still exist legally.

Northrock Limited
St. Lucia Model Farms Limited
SCIC (Windward Islands) Limited

Investment in associates

-

-

Net
2017
$

-

-

Net
2016
$

On January 15, 2007, on the instructions of the Government of Saint Lucia, Invest Saint Lucia’s shareholdings in St. Lucia
Development Livestock Co. Ltd. and St. Lucia Fish Marketing Agency Ltd. were to be transferred to the Ministry of Agriculture.
On July 1, 2013, the shares of St. Lucia Fish Marketing Agency Ltd. were transferred. As at December 31, 2017, the required
regulatory processes to effect the transfer of St. Lucia Livestock Limited’s shares remained outstanding. This company is
dormant and presently does not conduct any business activities.

Dennery Farmco Limited
St. Lucia Livestock
Development Co. Ltd.
National Landco. Ltd.

Investment in subsidiaries
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11.

163,288
163,288
42,719
(1,613)
179
(17,335)

337,130
(149,892)
187,238

764,313
764,313
14,200
(19,428)
759,085
979,689
(220,604)
759,085

For the year ended December 31, 2017
Opening net book value
Additions in the year
Disposals in the period
Accumulated depreciation on disposals
Depreciation charge for the year

Closing net book value

As at December 31, 2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

30

296,024
(132,736)

965,489
(201,176)

As at December 31, 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

187,238

163,288

764,313

Closing net book value

169,458

769,825
169,458
10,534
(16,704)

285,490
(116,032)

951,760
(181,935)

769,825
13,729
(19,241)

Furniture
and fittings
$

Leasehold
Improvements
$

For the year ended December 31, 2016
Additions in the year
Disposals in the period
Accumulated depreciation on disposals
Depreciation charge for the year

As at December 31, 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Property, plant and equipment

Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
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1,026,068

2,484,118
(1,458,050)

1,026,068

1,117,987
37,642
(129,561)

1,117,987

2,446,476
(1,328,489)

1,117,987

1,210,175
49,428
(141,616)

1,210,175

2,397,048
(1,186,873)

Office
equipment
$

139,213

241,398
(102,185)

139,213

78,515
80,890
(20,192)

78,515

160,508
(81,993)

78,515

36,800
94,218
(326,963)
293,843
(19,383)

36,800

393,253
(356,453)

Motor
vehicles
$

2,111,604

4,042,335
(1,930,731)

2,111,604

2,124,103
175,451
(1,613)
179
(186,516)

2,124,103

3,868,497
(1,744,394)

2,124,103

2,186,258
167,909
(326,963)
293,843
(196,944)

2,186,258

4,027,551
(1,841,293)

Total
$

INVEST SAINT LUCIA
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12.

Other assets
Intangible asset

Software
$

As at December 31, 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

143,707
(32,824)
110,883

For the year ended December 31, 2016
Additions in the year
Disposals in the period
Accumulated depreciation on disposals
Depreciation charge for the year
Closing net book value

110,883
11,601
(50,443)
72,041

As at December 31, 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

155,308
(83,267)

For the year ended December 31, 2017
Opening net book value
Additions in the year
Disposals in the period
Accumulated depreciation on disposals
Depreciation charge for the year
Closing net book value

72,041
72,041
9,340
(53,516)
27,865

As at December 31, 2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

164,648
(136,783)
27,865

The software is depreciated using the straight line method to allocate the cost less salvage
over the estimate useful life at 33% per year.
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13.

Investment properties
Land
$
As at December 31, 2015
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Building
$

Constructio

in progress

$

Total
$

5,744,695
42,698,817
- (18,900,371)

48,443,512
- (18,900,371)

5,744,695

23,798,446

-

29,543,141

For the year ended December 31, 2016
Opening net book value
Additions in the year
Disposal in the year
Accumulated depreciation on disposal
Depreciation charge for the year

5,744,695
-

23,798,446
1,580,337
(158,887)
94,273
(872,639)

-

29,543,141
1,580,337
(158,887)
94,273
(872,639)

Closing net book value

5,744,695

24,441,530

-

30,186,225

As at December 31, 2016
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

5,744,695
44,120,267
- (19,678,737)

49,864,962
- (19,678,737)

5,744,695

24,441,530

-

30,186,225

For the period ended December 31, 2017
Opening net book value
Additions in the year
Disposal in the year
Accumulated depreciation on disposal
Depreciation charge for the year

5,744,695
(1,914)
-

24,441,530
142,209
(715,139)
329,337
(886,318)

3,874,094
-

30,186,225
4,016,303
(717,053)
329,337
(886,318)

Closing net book value

5,742,781

23,311,619

3,874,094

32,928,494

As at December 31, 2017
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

5,742,781
43,547,337
- (20,235,718)

3,874,094
53,164,212
- (20,235,718)

5,742,781

3,874,094

23,311,619

32,928,494

Invest Saint Lucia uses the cost model for measurement of its investment properties. Investment
properties in the amount of $1,800,000 have been pledged as security for the loans in Note 14.
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13.

Investment properties (cont’d)
The following amounts have been recognized in the separate statement of surplus or
deficit:

2017
$

2016
$

Property department:
Operating lease - rental income

3,130,559

3,361,060

Point Seraphine:
Operating lease - rental income
Facility fees

2,182,922
136,088

3,181,165
237,780

2,319,010

3,418,945

5,449,569

6,780,005

The minimum lease payments on existing operating leases from investment properties are
as follows:

Not more than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not more than five years
More than five years

2017
$

2016
$

6,133,055
18,399,164
-

5,843,727
17,531,181
9,662,568

24,532,219

33,037,476

Invest Saint Lucia’s investment property consists of properties at Pointe Seraphine and
factory shells. The total fair value of the investment property is $100,558,409, determined
using the replacement cost and sales comparable methods as provided by professionally
qualified valuers. The Pointe Seraphine valuation was provided on August 14, 2013 and
the factory shells valuation was provided on March 31, 2014.
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14.

Borrowings

Bank of Saint Lucia Limited
8% loan repayable in monthly installments of $17,202
until 2024

2017
$

2016
$

1,038,238

1,156,915

6% loan repayable in monthly installments of $26,943
until June 2017

-

198,416

984,831

1,046,458

Government of St. Lucia

2,601,461

2,601,461

Total borrowings
Less: current portion

4,624,530
(184,899)

5,003,250
(378,696)

Non current portion

4,439,631

4,624,554

Caribbean Development Bank
2% loan repayable in quarterly installments of $20,652
until July 2031

Bank of Saint Lucia Limited
This loan is secured by a hypothecary instrument over 42,096 sq. ft. of land with a factory
thereon at Bisee, Castries, St. Lucia.
Caribbean Development Bank
This loan is guaranteed by the Government of Saint Lucia and is unsecured.
Government of Saint Lucia
The Government of Saint Lucia loans are funds obtained from the Caribbean Development
Bank for which Invest Saint Lucia acts as the executing agency. These loans are
guaranteed by the Government of Saint Lucia and are unsecured and non-interest
bearing.
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14.

Borrowings (cont’d)
The maturity of non-current borrowings is as follows:

Between 1 and 2 years
Between 3 and 5 years
Over 5 years

2017
$

2016
$

407,188
719,255
3,313,188

460,548
694,597
3,469,409

4,439,631

4,624,554

The weighted average effective interest rates at the year-end are as follows:

Bank borrowings

2017
%

2016
%

5.08

5.22

Invest Saint Lucia’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at year end is as
follows:

Caribbean Development Loan 011SFRORSTL3:
USD364,752 (December 2016 - USD387,577)

2017
$

2016
$

984,831

1,046,458

Invest Saint Lucia has a bank overdraft facility for $2,350,000 which is secured by Invest
Saint Lucia’s investment in the Windward and Leeward Brewery Limited. The facility was
undrawn at year end.
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15.

Trade and other payables

Accrued fund
Security deposits
Trade payables
Other payables
Retention fund

16.

2016
$

805,192
713,440
503,106
116,438
98,470

1,323,925
694,880
358,441
196,345
36,437

2,236,646

2,610,028

2017
$

2016
$

677,485
2,976,668

937,177
2,976,668

3,654,153

3,913,845

2017
$

2016
$

3,336,597

3,284,343

Provision for future development costs

Current
Non-current portion

17.

2017
$

Deferred revenue

Advance deposits

Advance deposits represent amounts received from customers before the completion of
the sale of lands.
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18.

Related party balances and transactions
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party
or exercise significant influence over the other party by making financial and operational
decisions.

Due to subsidiary
National Landco Ltd.

19.

2017
$

2016
$

419,614

313,454

Contributed capital

Investments and grants
Cash and cash equivalents
Lands:
Vieux Fort
Point Seraphine
Laborie
Bisee
La Toc
Dennery
Buildings:
Cantonement
Beauchamp Industrial
Odsan
Vieux-Fort

2017
$

2016
$

6,283,216
1,434,821

6,283,216
1,434,821

20,013,827
4,051,080
962,493
247,879
100,000
32,000

14,512,362
4,051,080
962,493
247,879
100,000
32,000

6,081,629
2,815,837
388,581
154,275

6,081,629
2,815,837
388,581
154,275

42,565,638

37,064,173

Contributed capital assets represents cash and cash equivalents, investments, lands and
buildings vested by the Government of Saint Lucia and are recognized at the fair value at
the date on which they were vested. Included in investments and grants is an amount of
$478,236 received from the European Development Fund Grant.
20.

Repayment of surplus
Repayment of surplus comprises an amount of $4,661,232 paid to the Government of St.
Lucia, representing net proceeds from the sale of lands in Choiseul to the GP Group; and
the cost of construction of a new road at Duty Free Pointe Seraphine at a cost of $360,498,
which ownership was transferred to the Ministry of Infrastructure on completion.
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22.

21.

Departmental operating profit

Direct costs
Cost of land sales
Operational costs

Revenue
Land sales
Operating lease - rental income
Facility fees

Departmental operating profit

38

6,898,782

(4,306,482)

(11,370,270)
4,645,188

(1,504,492)
(2,801,990)

(6,042,052)
(5,328,218)

11,205,264

16,015,458

(61,905)

(2,380,915)

(2,380,915)

2,319,010

2,182,922
136,088

7,844,204
3,361,060
-

12,884,899
3,130,559
-

1,596,154

(1,822,791)

(1,822,791)

3,418,945

3,181,165
237,780

Pointe Seraphine
2017
2016
$
$

Properties Department
2017
2016
$
$

4,583,283

(13,751,185)

(6,042,052)
(7,709,133)

18,334,468

12,884,899
5,313,481
136,088

Total
2017
$

8,494,936

(6,129,273)

(1,504,492)
(4,624,781)

14,624,209

7,844,204
6,542,225
237,780

2016
$

The value of the land and the compensation payable to Invest Saint Lucia has not yet been agreed and the relevant vesting orders
have not been executed. Invest Saint Lucia is intending to enter into a twenty-five (25) year Emphyteutic lease arrangement with the
FZMA instead of outright vesting. To this end a draft lease agreement was prepared and forwarded for signature. This transaction
has not yet been concluded and is therefore not reflected in the separate financial statements.

Cabinet, by Conclusion No. 842 of 2000, agreed to vest eleven (11) warehouses and one (1) administrative building at a total value
of $17,000,000, located in the Free Zone Management Authority (“FZMA”). The land and other contiguous parcels totaling
approximately 15.3 acres are to be transferred by Invest Saint Lucia to the FZMA.

Vested property
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23.

Expenses by nature

2017
$

2016
$

6,258,992
3,530,587
1,328,941
1,126,350
860,500
651,946
533,637
506,660
387,934
376,080
323,688
238,078
215,991
204,393
67,115
62,197
24,418
19,697
14,911

1,504,492
3,200,595
1,242,125
1,120,026
561,037
196,327
102,256
164,898
222,545
313,188
234,314
253,659
179,246
64,188
34,500
55,034
10,735
11,078

Total direct costs, general and administrative
expenses

16,732,115

9,470,243

Direct cost - Properties department
Direct cost - Point Seraphine
General and administrative expenses

11,370,270
2,380,915
2,980,930

4,306,482
1,822,791
3,340,970

16,732,115

9,470,243

Notes
Cost of land sales
Employee benefit expenses
Repairs and maintenance
Depreciation
Settlement costs
Security
Legal and professional fees
Impairment of trade and other receivables
Utilities
Travelling and entertainment
Office rental
Promotions and publicity
Insurance
Office expenses
Advertising
Members allowances
Motor vehicle expenses
Bank charges
Printing and stationery
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24.

Employee benefit expenses

Note
Salaries and wages
Termination benefits
Other staff costs
23

2017
$

2016
$

2,909,311
112,982
508,294

2,808,858
165,904
225,833

3,530,587

3,200,595

The average number of employees at December 31, 2017 was 42 (2016 - 41).
Key management compensation

Salaries and wages
Gratuity

25.

2017
$

2016
$

960,848
112,982

799,625
145,904

1,073,830

945,529

Other income - net

Dividend income
Interest income
Sundry other
Recovery of trade receivable previously provided for
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Sundry administrative (expenses)/income
Sundry industrial estate (expenses)/income

40

2017
$

2016
$

1,497,034
831,584
657,768
150,345
(30,299)
(20,938)
(3,450)

1,383,125
664,210
(356)
787,439
52,266
10,170
4,255

3,082,044

2,901,109
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Separate Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended December 31, 2017
(Expressed in Eastern Caribbean Dollars)
26.

Finance cost - net

Interest income
Interest expense

27.

2017
$

2016
$

11,237
(112,599)

8,360
(156,306)

(101,362)

(147,946)

Commitments
Invest Saint Lucia has entered into operating lease agreements over its business
premises. The future minimum lease payments under these arrangements are as follows:

Not more than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not more than five years

28.

2017
$

2016
$

331,188
15,000

313,188
18,000

346,188

331,188

Contingent liability
Invest Saint Lucia has been named a defendant to claims of $132,000 (2016 - $142,000)
and, $383,239.80 plus general damages not yet assessed, as at December 31, 2017.
Whilst it is impossible to be certain of the outcome of any particular case or of the amount
of any possible adverse verdict, Invest Saint Lucia believes that their defences to all these
various claims are meritorious on both the law and the facts. Having regard to the
foregoing, Invest Saint Lucia (i) does not consider it appropriate to make any provision in
respect of any pending litigation and (ii) does not believe that the ultimate outcome of this
litigation will significantly impair Invest Saint Lucia’s financial condition. Payments if any,
arising from these claims will be recorded in the period that the payments are made.
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